CHARLOTTESVILLE AREA ASSOCIATION OF REALTORS® FOUNDATION BYLAWS

Adopted August 2017 Revised October 2023

ARTICLE I NAME AND LOCATION

SECTION 1. The Charlottesville Area Association of REALTORS® Foundation (hereafter called the "Foundation") is a nonstock corporation formed and operating pursuant to the laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia.

SECTION 2. Offices of the Foundation shall be in Albemarle County at the offices of the Charlottesville Area Association of REALTORS® hereinafter, "CAAR". The Foundation shall have and continuously maintain in Virginia a registered agent and registered office where the registered agent may be located.

ARTICLE II PURPOSES

SECTION 1. The purposes of the Corporation shall be those set forth in the Articles of Incorporation, as may be amended from time to time.

ARTICLE III BOARD OF DIRECTORS

SECTION 1. Authority. All corporate powers shall be exercised by or under the authority of, and the business and affairs of the Corporation shall be managed under the direction of, the Board of Directors. Unless otherwise provided by resolution of the Board of Directors, the directors shall have the sole voting power.

SECTION 2. <u>Number and Qualification</u>. The number of directors shall be no fewer than five (5) and no more than fifteen (15) at all times, with the exact number to be fixed by resolution of the Board of Directors. Each director shall be at least 18 years of age.

SECTION 3. Election and Term. The initial directors shall be the persons named in the Articles of Incorporation and shall serve for the terms stated therein and until the election and qualification of their successors. As set forth in the Articles of Incorporation, the initial directors on the Board shall be classified into three classes: Class A directors to serve for a three-year term (until the 2020 annual meeting of the Board), Class B to serve a serve for a two-year term (until the 2019 annual meeting of the Board), and Class C to serve for a one-year term (until the 2018 annual meeting of the Board), with the number of directors in each class being as close to one-third of the total number of directors as possible. As the terms of the initial directors expire (and thereafter), the successor directors shall be persons nominated as set forth in Article V. Section 6 below and shall be elected at the annual meetings of the Board by the directors then in office. The directors so elected shall hold office for a term of three years and each shall serve for such term and until the election and qualification of a successor, or until such director's death, resignation, or removal. No person shall be eligible to serve for more than twoconsecutive three-year terms (or the equivalent in years), but such person will again be eligible to serve after a one-year break in service. A simple majority of board members will be current members of the Charlottesville Area Association of REALTORS® (CAAR).

- **SECTION 4.** Resignation and Removal. A director may resign at any time by delivering written notice to the Board of Directors. A resignation shall be effective when the notice is delivered unless the notice specifies a later effective date. The Board of Directors may remove one or more directors with or without cause upon an affirmative vote by two-thirds of the directors then in office.
- **SECTION 5.** <u>Vacancy.</u> If a vacancy occurs on the Board of Directors between annual meetings, including a vacancy resulting from an increase in the number of directors, the vacancy may be filled by the affirmative vote of most of the remaining directors, even though less than a quorum of the Board.
- **SECTION 6.** Annual Meeting. The Board of Directors shall meet at least annually in the month specified by resolution of the Board of Directors for the purpose of general organization, the appointment of officers, and consideration of any other business that may properly be brought before the meeting. The failure to hold the annual meeting at the time stated herein shall not affect the validity of any corporate action.
- **SECTION 7.** Regular or Special Meetings in Addition to the Annual Meeting. Regular meetings of the Board of Directors shall be held at such times as the Board may designate by resolution. Special meetings of the Board of Directors may be called any time by the Chair or upon the request of any two (2) directors, by the Secretary.
- **SECTION 8.** Notice of Meetings. The Secretary or officer performing the Secretary's duties shall give not less than two days' notice by word-of-mouth, mail, facsimile, or e-mail of all special meetings of the Board of Directors. The notice shall set forth the agenda, minutes, and other items of business requiring a vote. Special meetings may be held at any time without notice if all the directors are present, or if those not present waive notice in writing either before or after the meeting. No notice shall be required for annual and regular meetings.
- **SECTION 9.** <u>Place of Meetings</u>. Meetings of the Board of Directors, annual, regular, or special, shall be held at such place as the Board of Directors may designate.
- **SECTION 10.** Quorum and Voting. Action may be taken on a matter by the Board of Directors only at a meeting at which a quorum shall be present. A quorum of the Board of Directors shall consist of a simple majority of the number of directors on the Board. Unless otherwise provided in these Bylaws, if a quorum is present when a vote is taken, the affirmative vote of a simple majority of directors' present is the act of the Board of Directors. Whenever applicable law requires the Board of Directors to recommend or approve any proposed corporate act, such recommendation or approval shall not be required if the proposed corporate act is adopted by the unanimous consent of the Board.
- **SECTION 11.** Conduct of Meetings. The Chair shall preside over all meetings of the directors. If the Chair is not present, the most senior officer shall preside. If none of such officers are present, a Chair shall be elected at the meeting. The Secretary of the Corporation shall act as secretary of all the meetings if present. If the Secretary is not present, the officer presiding over the meeting shall appoint a secretary of the meeting. The Board of Directors may permit any or all directors to participate in a regular or special meeting by, or conduct a meeting using, any means by which all directors participating may simultaneously communicate with each other during the meeting.
- **SECTION 12.** Action Without a Meeting. Any action required or permitted to be taken at a Board of Directors' meeting may be taken without a meeting if the action is taken by all members of the Board. The action shall be evidenced by one or more written consents stating the action taken, signed by each director either before or after the action taken, and included in

the minutes or filed with the corporate records reflecting the action taken. Action taken under this Section is effective when the last director signs the consent unless the consent specifies a different effective date, in which event the action taken is effective as of the date specified therein provided the consent states the date of execution by each director. A consent signed under this Section shall have the same effect as a meeting vote and may be described as such in any document.

SECTION 13. Powers of Grants and Contributions. The Board shall have the exclusive authority to make grants and contributions and otherwise render financial assistance for the purpose of furthering the Corporation's tax-exempt purposes. The Board shall have the power to make grants to any organization that is organized and operated exclusively for religious, scientific, charitable, or educational purposes within the meaning of Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code and which further the Corporation's tax-exempt purposes. All requests for funds shall be reviewed by the Board and shall state the proposed use of the requested funds. The Board shall have the discretion to refuse to make any grant or contribution. If a grant request is approved, the Board may fund such grant out of existing funds, or it may solicit funds for the grant requested. The Board shall retain the absolute power to withdraw its support of any grant or contribution, for any reason, at any time. The Board shall not accept contributions that require the Corporation to contribute or transmit such contributions solely to any named organization. Grantee organizations shall be required, from time to time, to furnish an accounting that shows how the funds were expended for the purposes approved by the Board.

SECTION 14. Reporting. The Foundation Board of Directors shall inform the Board of Directors of the Charlottesville Area Association of REALTORS® of the activities of the Foundation at least quarterly. This reporting requirement can be satisfied by submitting the Minutes of Foundation Board meetings to the CAAR Board of Directors for informational purposes.

ARTICLE IV COMMITTEES

SECTION 1. <u>Board Committees.</u> The Board of Directors may create one or more Board committees and appoint members of the Board of Directors to serve on them. Each Board committee shall consist of two or more directors, who shall serve at the pleasure of the Board of Directors. Each Board committee may exercise the authority of the Board of Directors, subject to Section 13.1-869(D) of the Code.

SECTION 2. Meetings. The provisions of these Bylaws which govern meetings, action without meetings, and quorum and voting requirements of the Board of Directors shall apply to Board committees and their members as well.

ARTICLE V OFFICERS

SECTION 1. General. The officers of the Corporation shall consist of a Chair, Chair Elect, Secretary, and Treasurer and such other officers as the Board may appoint. All officers except the Secretary shall be elected or appointed annually by the Board of Directors at the annual meeting of the Board and for such compensation as may be fixed by the Board of Directors, and each officer shall hold office until such officer's successor is elected or appointed and qualified or until such officer's earlier death, resignation, or removal. Officers, other than the Chair, Chair-Elect and Secretary need not be members of the Board of Directors. Any two (2) or more offices may be held by the same person. The Chair Elect shall succeed to Office of Chair the following term. In addition to the elected officers, a Secretary shall be appointed by the Chair and for such compensation as may be fixed by the [Board/Chair] and shall serve a term

coincident with the Chair's term. The Secretary may be, but need not be, a member of the Charlottesville Area Association of REALTORS®.

- **SECTION 2.** Resignation and Removal. An officer may resign at any time by delivering written notice to the Board of Directors. A resignation shall be effective when the notice is delivered unless the notice specifies a later effective date. If a resignation is made effective later and the Corporation accepts the future effective date, it may fill the pending vacancy before the effective date if his successor does not take office until the effective date. The Board of Directors may remove any officer at any time with or without cause and any officer or assistant officer, if appointed by another officer, may likewise be removed by such officer.
- **SECTION 3.** <u>Vacancies.</u> A vacancy in any office because of death, resignation, removal, disqualification or otherwise shall be filled by the Board.
- **SECTION 4.** <u>Duties of Officers</u>. In addition to the duties of the officers that are expressly set forth below (and to the extent not inconsistent therewith), the duties of the officers shall be such as their titles, by general usage, would indicate and such as may be assigned to them by the Board of Directors.
- (a.) <u>Duties of Chair</u>. The Chair shall be the chief officer, and shall, in general, supervise all the business and affairs of the Foundation. The Chair is responsible for carrying out the strategic plan developed by, and the policies adopted by, the Board of Directors. The Chair shall have authority to sign checks, drafts, notes, and all other orders for the payment of money and to sign the corporate name to all deeds, contracts, leases, and other documents of every nature and description. The Chair may delegate the authority vested in this office, or any portion of it, to other Corporation agents and employees. The Chair shall be a member of the Board of Directors.

The Chair is authorized to appoint and dissolve, for any cause, any special committee, subject to approval of the Board of Directors. The Chair shall be a member ex-officio of all committees, except the Nominating Committee, and shall be notified of their meetings.

Between the sessions of these bodies, the Chair shall represent the Foundation as its official spokesperson, and act in its name, subject to its declared policies.

- (b.) <u>Duties of Chair Elect</u>. The Chair Elect shall perform the duties of the Chair when so requested by the Chair, including presiding over meetings and discharge other duties of the Chair in the absence or unavailability of the Chair. The Chair Elect shall prepare, in writing, such reports as may be called for by the Chair or Board of Directors.
- (c.) <u>Duties of Secretary.</u> The Secretary shall attend all meetings of the Board of Directors and shall have the responsibility for preparing and maintaining custody of the minutes of the meetings of the Board and for authenticating records of the Corporation. The Secretary shall keep or cause to be kept in a book provided for the purpose a true and complete record of the proceedings of all meetings. The Secretary shall be custodian of the records and the seal of the Corporation and shall see that the seal is affixed to all documents, the execution of which on behalf of the Corporation under its seal has been duly authorized. The Secretary shall attend to the giving of all notices and shall perform such other duties as these Bylaws or the Board of Directors may prescribe.
- (d.) <u>Duties of Treasurer</u>. The Treasurer shall keep correct and complete records of account, showing accurately always the financial condition of the Corporation. The Treasurer shall be the legal custodian of all monies, notes, securities, and other valuables that may from time to time come into the possession of the Corporation. The Treasurer shall immediately

deposit all funds of the Corporation coming into his or her hands in same reliable bank or other depository to be designated by the Board of Directors and shall keep this bank account in the name of the Corporation. The Treasurer shall furnish at meetings of the Board of Directors, or whenever requested, a statement of the financial condition of the Corporation and shall perform such other duties as these Bylaws or the Board of Directors may prescribe.

SECTION 5. Transfer of Authority. In case of the absence of any officer of the Corporation or for any other reason that the Board of Directors may deem sufficient, the Board of Directors may transfer the powers or duties of that officer to any other officer or to any director or employee of the Corporation.

SECTION 6. Election of Officers and Directors. Annually, a Nominating Committee shall be appointed by the Chair with the approval of the Board of Directors. The Nominating Committee shall be comprised of the Immediate Past Chair, one sitting Director either in the first year of their three-year term or not running for re-election, and the Foundation Chief Staff Executive. No candidate running for election or re-election shall serve on the Nominating Committee. The Nominating Committee shall nominate one (1) eligible candidate for each office and one (1) eligible candidate for each of the positions to be filled for the Board of Directors from the applications submitted. Directors who are running for a second term must also apply.

ARTICLE VI LIMITATION OF LIABILITY AND INDEMNIFICATION

SECTION 1. <u>Limitation of Liability.</u> To the full extent that the Virginia Nonstock Corporation Act, as it exists on the date hereof or may hereafter be amended, permits the limitation or elimination of the liability of the directors or officers, a director or officer of the Corporation shall not be liable to the Corporation for any monetary damages.

SECTION 2. <u>Indemnification.</u> The Corporation shall indemnify a director or officer of the Corporation who is or was a party to any proceeding by reason of fact that he or she is or was such a director or officer, or is or was serving at the request of the Corporation as a director, partner, trustee, officer, manager, employee or agent of another corporation, partnership, limited liability company, joint venture, trust, employee benefit plan or other enterprise, against all liabilities and expenses incurred in the proceeding except such liabilities and expenses are incurred because of his or her willful misconduct or knowing violation of the criminal law.

SECTION 3. Advances and Reimbursement of Expenses. Unless a determination has been made that the indemnification is not permissible, the Corporation shall make advances and reimbursements for expenses incurred by a director or officer in a proceeding upon receipt of an undertaking from him or her to repay the same if it is ultimately determined that the director or officer is not entitled to indemnification. Such undertaking shall be an unlimited, unsecured general obligation of the director of officer and shall be accepted without reference to his or her ability to make repayment. Unless a determination has been made that indemnification is not permissible, the Corporation is hereby empowered to contract in advance to indemnify and advance the expenses of any director or officer.

SECTION 4. Procedure for Indemnification. The determination to make advancements, reimbursements or indemnifications, or to contract in advance to do the same, shall be made by majority vote of a quorum of disinterested directors. If a quorum of disinterested directors cannot be obtained for any reason, then the determination shall be made by a majority vote of a committee designated by the Board, including interested directors, the committee to consist only of disinterested directors, at least two in number, or by special legal counsel selected by a quorum of disinterested directors or by the committee described above. If neither a quorum of

disinterested directors nor a committee of a least two disinterested directors can be obtained, then the selection of the special legal counsel shall be made by a majority vote of the entire Board, including interested directors.

SECTION 5. Persons Covered. The Board is hereby empowered, by majority vote of a quorum of disinterested directors, to cause the Corporation to indemnify or contract in advance to indemnify any person not specified in Section 2 above who was or is a party to any proceeding by reason of the fact that he or she is or was an employee or agent of the Corporation, or is or was serving at the request of the Corporation as a director, partner, trustee, officer, man-ager, employee or agent of another corporation, partnership, limited liability company, joint venture, trust, employee benefit plan or other enterprise, to the same extent as if such a person were specified as one to whom indemnification is granted in Section 2 above.

SECTION 6. Insurance. The Corporation may purchase and maintain insurance to indemnify it against the whole or any portion of the liability assumed by it in accordance with this Article and may also procure insurance, in such amounts as the Board may determine, on behalf of any person who is or was a director, officer, employee, or agent of the Corporation, or is or was serving at the request of the Corporation as a director, partner, trustee, officer, manager, employee, or agent of another corporation, partnership, limited liability company, joint venture, trust, employee benefit plan, or other enterprise, against any liability asserted or incurred by any such person in any such capacity or arising from his status as such, whether or not the Corporation would have power to indemnify him against such liability under the provisions of this Article.

SECTION 7. Changes in Board Composition. In the event there has been a change in the composition of a majority of the Board after the date of the alleged act or omission with respect to which indemnification is claimed, any determination as to indemnification and advancement of expenses with respect to any claim for indemnification made pursuant to Section 2 above shall be made by special legal counsel agreed upon by the Board and the proposed indemnitee. If the Board and the proposed indemnitee are unable to agree upon such special legal counsel, the Board and the proposed indemnitee each shall select a nominee, and the nominees shall select such special legal counsel.

SECTION 8. Applicability of this Article. The provisions of this Article shall be applicable to all actions, claims, suits or proceedings commenced after the adoption hereof, whether arising from any action taken or failure to act before or after such adoption. No amendment, modification or repeal of this Article shall diminish the rights provided hereby or diminish the right to indemnification with respect to any claim, issue or matter in any then pending or subsequent proceeding that is based in any material aspect on any alleged action or failure to act prior to such amendment, modification or repeal. Reference herein to directors, officers, employees or agents shall include former directors, officers, employees and agents and their respective heirs, executors and administrators.

ARTICLE VII FINANCE

SECTION 1. Fiscal Period. The fiscal period of the Foundation shall be the same as the fiscal period of the Charlottesville Area Association of REALTORS®.

SECTION 2. <u>Budget</u>. The Foundation Board of Directors shall adopt an annual operating budget covering all activities of the Foundation.

SECTION 3. <u>Audit</u>. The accounts of the Foundation shall be audited not less than annually by a Certified Public Accountant who shall provide a report to the Foundation Board of Directors in the quarter immediately following the close of the previous fiscal period. Within sixty (60) days following completion of the audit, the Foundation Board of Directors shall furnish the Charlottesville Area Association of REALTORS® Board of Directors with a financial report for the fiscal year just concluded. An audit that demonstrates that the Foundation is not financially viable will trigger an automatic Sunset Review, as described in Article VIII, Section 2 below.

SECTION 4. <u>Grant Approval.</u> No grant, award, or non-budgeted expense shall be made without a majority vote of the Foundation Board of Directors.

ARTICLE VIII DISSOLUTION

SECTION 1. The Foundation shall use its funds only to accomplish the objectives and purposes specified in Articles of Incorporation and, to the extent consistent with the objectives and purposes specified in Articles of Incorporation, the objectives and purposes specified in these Bylaws, and no part of said funds shall inure, or be distributed, to the Board of Directors of the Foundation. On dissolution of the Foundation, any funds remaining shall be distributed in accordance with the Articles of Incorporation.

SECTION 2. The President of CAAR may request that a task force be appointed to conduct a Sunset Review of the CAAR Foundation as needed, but not more than once every three years. Upon such request, the Board shall appoint a task force consisting of three persons to conduct such Sunset Review. The task force will include and make recommendations to the Board on the achievement of effective financial objectives, the outcomes of philanthropic initiatives, and the membership of the Foundation Board. If, as a result of the Sunset Review, the Board determines that the Foundation is not meeting its goals, it may consider dissolution of the Corporation. The task force shall not consist of any sitting member of the Foundation Board of Directors, but it shall consist of at least one (1) Past Foundation Director.

ARTICLE IX AMENDMENTS

SECTION 1. Amendments to or repeal of these Bylaws may be approved and adopted by the Foundation Board of Directors on its own initiative or upon petition by three Foundation Directors voting at any meeting of the Foundation Board of Directors, duly called, provided written notice of proposed changes have been sent to all the Foundation Board of Directors fifteen (15) days before such meeting.

ARTICLE X RULES OF ORDER

SECTION 1. The rules contained in the current edition of the ROBERT'S RULES OF ORDER shall govern the conduct of meetings of the Foundation Board of Directors in all cases to which they are applicable and in which they are not inconsistent with the Bylaws and any special rules the Foundation may adopt.

ARTICLE XI CONFLICT OF INTEREST TRANSACTIONS

SECTION 1. A "Conflict of Interest Transaction" is a transaction with the corporation in which a Director has an interest that precludes the Director from being a disinterested Director pursuant to the provisions of Section 13.1-871 of the Virginia Nonstock Corporation Act. A Director shall

inform the Board of Directors of the material facts of which he has knowledge relating to any direct or indirect Conflict of Interest Transaction and of any interest which the Director has about any such Transaction being contemplated by the Board of Directors. All Conflict of Interest Transactions shall be considered by the Board (or any committee with appropriate board delegated powers) and shall only be approved in compliance with the provisions of Section 13.1-871 of the Virginia Nonstock Corporation Act, as it may be amended from time to time.

SECTION 2. Moreover, the Board of Directors has adopted a Conflict of Interest Policy (the "Policy"). The Board may amend or replace the Policy from time to time. The Policy provides for the disclosure of possible conflicts of interest and for evaluation of the same, with internal procedures. The Policy is intended to supplement but not replace any state laws (including but not limited to Va. Code Section 13.1-871) or federal laws governing conflicts of interest applicable to nonprofit and charitable organizations.